




COURT OF GiiINERAL SESSIONS OP THE PEACE; 

• CI_TY A= COUNTY OF nw YOMC. 

• Indictment filed the 18th day of govern er; 1994. 

Indicted for Murder in the First Degree. 

• For the People, ASSISTANT. PISTRICT ATTOliNEY., 

For :the. Defendant, SACHS. 

?fried before HON ,MARTIN T.. liclIAHON; Judge, nd 

n the 27th day of February, 1905, etc; 



THE CLERK: If you intend to challenge an .individual 

juror, you must do so when he •uppears and. "before he is 

Oworn 

The Jury is duly =paneled and sworn. 

DMO T E R A X.E:, Called as a witness on 

behalf of. the People, e r duly sworn and examined), t 

tifiei as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR.. 

You are phyeiciin and surgeon? .41. Yee, s r 

Q And You are one.:of the Co.x.óner's'hyBicians. of She 

Cbunty of New •York? 0, sir. 

Q Did you perform an autopsy .upon the body of Richard. 

Yitzpatrick? • A Yea, 

Q, Whore? A At the Morgue. 

A., When/ •A 

'fifteen hours after death.. 

Q.. Who was present to point the,b dy out to yOu?.- A Of-

ficer Meyer. 

• MR :CLARE: Stand upi Officer Meyer.. 

-(A man arise's in the courtroota.) 

Is that the .officer? A Yes, sir. 

Q You performed the autopsy upon the body indicated b 

him? A Yes, sirs 



•  it did you, find? A.•. X found, a lacerated wound 

at the angle of the left eye. k pistol Shot .wound two 

•inbhe  to the ri ht of the rightnipple Of. the left nipple. 

Two wounds? . AlTo, sir; one wound.'. There was* 

lacerated. woUnd ante-mortem wound, like as if he had. been in 

a struggle or somebody sora',tched. 
. • t A ,Not a bul3.et.wound1--A No, afr,-- and 4 bullet ,wound 

two inches to the right of the left..nipple, at the . fourth 

ntercostal space. 

Show the jury? A About here (Indicating) 

•Q that was the track of the bullet? A it Went clean 

through the heart and struck the spinal column and was deflect.. 

,ed downwardfound the bullet through the aiaPhraand o 

the liver. • 

Dia you recover the bullet? A Yes, 

calibre was it 9 ( The ,witness.produces a bul-

.33Y MR CLAM: 
• 

you pro &Ice the bullet taken from thia be 

•Richard. Pitzpatriak? Ayes, sir. 

Mit. CLAM: I offer it  n evidence; 

Received. and; marked :People's 317chibit I. 

Q You ragde this autopsy for the purpose of fascertaln 

he Cause of death? A yes, sir. 



What was the cause of death, in your opinion, 

Richard zpatrick? A Pistol aot wound of the thoraz 

followed enOrr 

State whether tle course of the bullet was downward 

o'r upward any marked. degree? 

%Straight back? A Yes, stratak the spinal 

column au1-fell. 

Who was present at the autopsy? A I don.4t r,isteinber . 

Anybqqy besides the 'officer? t remember. 

The officer was there? A Yes, sir, he identified the 

Pid. Yolksy the Wound disbovered. over the left 

eye :was ..put there before death? A It _was antemortitm 

what caused that 

autopsy? A No Sir. 



• Large or. man? A He was bout -- I didnt 
about 

measure. him, but I g3hould judge .five foot seven and a half 

pretty muscular, very well tdevelo 

In good phyaiôal donditikp -A Yes. 

BY THE COW: 

The pistol -sho 

Did you ,notice *any indications' which would enable 

determine about how far that _Shot Was fired front the 

person of the deceased? A I couldn't 

Re had his clothes on, of course? A 

q•. Did you examine, the oo&t to see whether there Were 

BY NR. CLARKE: 

Yrom the condition of the bullet, could you judge 

Eilything, from beings flattened? A Well, it is scraped 

there. There are marks. they might be due to the .barrel 

twice, at whicht he shot was fired? • A No, • air. 



A.N 1) called as a witness n behalf 

being duly sworn and examined testified 

as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. 

You _are a civil engineer? A I am an architect an 

. draughtsman. 

f bUsiness? 302 Broadway . 

Q, Th4ou, on or abotvt the 6ii f December, 

the neighborhood. of the 
Intersection of. 

shaei::::d6T iirito 

Streets, the county New YorkT 

Did. you measure the distances 

Between Stanton and-RiVington and the width of 

Sheriff Stree.t, and make a ,plan thereof? A 

how you a plan !and ask you if if you Made that from 

me astir ement s? 

To what soti3e? A' Scale of 20 feet to .1 inCh., 

a correct representation of the various dis-

tances between RiVington and StantonStree s, on Sherif,.. 

and the width of Sheriff Street? A Yes, sir. 

And the location of the various stores and places of 

business there? • A Ye r4 ;sir. 



Ireland, I ,want the distance from the center 

of this corner of this house to the center of this point 

Indicatinig 

BY R. CLAIM: 

Stacie what the distance is from the northwest cor. 
to the 

ner of Sheriff and Xivimgton -Streets southeast corner, 

-measuring from  the center 'of the sidewalk in each case. 

.A I have not a. rule with me, 

(A rule is produced and handed. to the witness 

THE'WITNESS: Prom the Center of the sidewalk- there. • 

to the center of the si dewalk there Indicat ing) 

BY MR'. 

, 0,1, • 

Q That did you find it actually with your measure, 

,many inches? 2 inches .and 'making 55 feet • 

'q Mark:with a pencil from What point t 

measured? 

which point you 

(The witness indicatee by incasing two dot.g.) 

, These .two dots indicate the, two points from which 

you 'measured? A Yes, 

Q The dietan.ce from one to the other s 2 4 -inches on 

the plan? A yes, sir. 



i the s outheast -corner of 'llivingt on 

the saloon No "77 Sheriff Street, 

Will you  meaSure ;91.at".• for us, and. 1.+AuS know the di stance,. 

Sheriff Street?. A. To the center 

*about t4e , center A'140 .feet 

n. CLAM: 

Row much, do you find it on the plan k inches. 

rake a mark at the paint you measured from in. the 

front f the  saloon, n the center of the walk 

whereit *B? The "center of the buildings 

You measured from the center of the front wall of 

the building?. 

To the point indicated on the southeast., corner? 

Q Which you say is how many feet? A 140 feet. 

.You examined all these. different buildings? A Yes. 

Q, And you have indicated .on this plan the character of 

is,you have on the corner here 
imater; . 

and gaeriff, soda • cigars1 etc. 

place where that sort of business was curried. on? Ayes,. 



of the People being duly sworn and examined,- testified 

as follows: 

_DIRECT EXA/ta/ZATIOlf.-BY R.OL 

You are a -police officer? Ayesir. 

Of the police force Of the .city of Nevr•lar.it? 

r. 

Q.'You are tit.ach.ed to• he .13th precinet ? A Yes', 

..Were you euch*p lice .officer on the first of Nov-

ember, 1904?.. A Yes: 

Attached to the same precinct?' A YeS. 

What is the northerly boundary of that Precinct? 

Northerly b of what • street? 

Rivington Street? A. Taking -the smith side.. 

'4 Rivineton is the north boundary of your precinct? 

A **Yes. 

het was your post on the night „of N9vember 1st, 

1904? A Sheriff Street. and. Obltuibia Street, W.vington 

Street, as far te Grand:Street.-

4- -That is on the south side of Eifington A On the 

outh side only 
4 ' 

4.  How far east and west? -A H .a block. 



How far east? A a bloc 

4 'from what street? :A Weit of -S1:leriff Street, 

half a .blo.olc eáet of cblumbja Street. 

9, How. long have you been on the police ores? 

ent eel/ months. 

Q, Now, prior .to that night in .queStion, did you, know 

this defendant? A No sir* 

Never. had seen him.beforet 

speak too 

.Have you seen seen him. in that neighborhood before? 

Yes, sir, I have seen him. a..dozen times. 

Row long before this happened had you -seen him 

A How lone?* 

yes. A Only a couple' of days.' 

-q—Did‘you-know al-Chard Pitzpatriok? A y 

How long had you known `i A 

(4, Did- he live in that neighborhood? 

Now, you z-einember what • took place 

November 1st , 1904? A Yes. 

What time did you go on post? A 4• P. M. 

And at what time W49 your attention first attracted 

to any trouble in31riff Street what time was it?. A It was 

about 8:25.. 

A Yes. 

that night 



'there were you when your attention was first attractedv 

and what first attracted your attention? A I was standing, 

n the corner of Sheriff and itivington. 

That is in the (17ounty of New York? A Yes. 

There are four corners to those two streets which 

corner were you On? A This corner(Indicating). 

That, is the southeast corner? , A The southeast coribv 

And which w4r were you going, which direction? 

Was going down towards.001umittia Street On.Rivington. 

.ftiligftowfards the east ? .A Yes, 

You were' on patrol duty? A "ir a.. 

What kind ,of Weather was it? A Nice weather* 

4 Go on and. tell what attracted.-your ten.tiorif 

A About ' 830 while on patrol') on Sheriff and Rivington 

Streets I happened to stop there. There was a .Political 

meeting going on at Sheriff and. RivingtOn, on the north cor-

ner; 

That is on the corner indicated b he word saloon 

where. there is a saloon on the corner? Ayes, •sir. 

Outdoor meeting? -A Yes, sir noticed them a 

few minutes later, Stahl 

at its the defendant? A Yes sir. and. Fitzpatrick. 

Richard Fitzpatrick the deceased?. AYes, sir and. 



three or four .others cone out 'o saloon at 7 Sheriff • 

Street, 

IZ Who keeps thatsaloon? A Adam fienderer. 

Q, 77 :Sheriff Street? A Yes, s 

Q, Which side of. Serif! Street 113 that? A On the wee 

,litcor..niany7:•men Wei,* in the. part? 1 • About fOttr.• 

What -Wet*: they doing when you firtyt ,saw 0.104? -.4". The 

came out and. were standing- there a. -Minute or .so, an. speaking 

among themselves. 

.CPUld,-you 'hear them. talking 

How .do you know  they were talking? .A. 

could see them' talking, OW Can tell a perBon. when he -speaks. 

don'tor  'speak, 

Standing t Yes, r; in a crOw4, and  

. they .were about t separate when Irnoticed Stahl walk a. few 

feet away from Fitzpatrick and his companion, and I then 

noticed Stahl' pull a revolver from the back pocket of his 
• 

pants,. pants pocke d shoot twice at Fitzpatrick...

'How far was Fitzpatrick froin•him? A I should 

judge, now, .about seven feet way. 

q, Cali you indicate what store *Fitzpatrick was 

front of when the Bbooting occurred - had they toied down 

the street at all? A yes, sir they walked down a little w 

I should judge about there (Indie4ting 

littgaff, 



an, xt mark The witness complies.) 

That i.e • .front of. what stor*?: A Tiikt.butter Store. 

In front of .the butter store?  A Yes, r; in front. 

of that butter store 

.1; Which'is No. 1151 A '75. Sheriff Street 

Wl.lere, was. Stahl? A Stab]. walked away. 

Where was he when  he ...fired: the shot, compared .with 

the position Pitzpatrick was  in? A  About. seven feet  aw 

from. there. 

That ±8 seven. feet further Up Sheriff reeft. A 

Down, towards Rivington? A Yes, a 

of the two Stahl was nearer to you? 

How long a space of time intervened between the tivo 

.s t KJ-net the snap of your . finger,. a second not a 

second, a tick 

q Did you make any .move between the sho 

.heard them? not until the two 

6.nd then I I was stunned for the moment 

You were stunned? A That is yes because I did 

not expect the shooting. 

or after you 

bats were fired 

What did You do tbe",minute you SEM it? A. When the 

two shots were fired, Stahl run in the direction north down. 

Sheriff Street, and Pitzpatrick after hitt. 



Towardef what street? 'A Towards Eivingt on st.re 

T1at-1 00.44, 
Be ri. south your direotiO 

Then he..,*ired:the ShOtt WO hi s face or b ack to you 

When - walked. away, his face.. Wa s toWardS_Me., 

:Wileri e fired the shot?- A', When he gitod 
his back was to*ards me 

That .did .:11,61 do.immediately ::after that? A Ian 

Did- he turn around- ? A Yes, 

Q He mist have tin-ned, arotuid towards You? ,A Be 

right around.. 

Then his face was-. towards. you A Yes, 

.T.4et he mn towardsdown th'rou 

Sheriff. 

On the west side of Sheriff, towards 

Q Did you see revolver? 

throw. it away after, he' ran. 

That i what I say. A Ye 

Q Now ft;tr did he •run did you Move at all? •A s; 

when he started to run I -run, and I 'got him at the corner of 

Sheriff and. Itivington Street. on_ the  north side. 

Q The 11-Orthwest corner? A Yes. 

'Did he turn when he got to the corner of Iiivington 



and theriff7 r dido t get a. chance because' got 

ou. intercéped him before h got to, the corner 

A  Just when he was about 
• About t 'the corner/ A Yea,al 

Where Wits .gl'itz atrick then Jatzpatrick went 

after him. 

• Ran after him? A Yee, 

• Now far behind him.was he, Aid you notice. A Only 

a couple of feet. 

Near1Yãuht him? AYes, air. 

What did you .do when you caught .up to "him? •A I ar• 

rested Stahl, the meantime Pittputrick had f lien 

down. I then culled a citizen and gave him the keys of my 

signal box, to telephone for an ambulance Ato Gouverneur. Nos-

Pita.. In the meantline feW officers of the 14th precinct 

and an .0ff iOer'.cf the 13th.precinct had arrived on the Scene, 

nd then, took PlizpttriCk into the drug Store and .1Ed.d him 

out ;there.  

.That, s the- store on the corner, .73 Sheriff 

.:Store on the corner?, A YO, s ir ; that drugstore. 

.C/ Did you notice any watuids.up.on'him? A No, air; 

this 

did 210 did not know what was the' matter with him. 

Was he con ecious? A  



Re was n t conscious when you saw him? 4No, sir. 

In the drug store? A No, air. 

Go .ahead; what 'happened next? A After I had arrested 

tabi and Fitzpatrick had been taken into a, drug store) an 

ulande was on its way to—Skeriff and Ri t n Street • 

/ then went back with Stahl And looked, for. the 

Did, you s ay anything to the defendant about It? 

Yes) sir; I said) "WAy did you shoot him?"' 

I mem about the gun did you ask him where it 

was? A No, I did not ask him then.. I bught  him back, 

and. then I looked around for the gun) and it was gone.. 

I then came back again, and the ambillance had, arrived. 

9, You sEy you said something to him what was ? 

said to hi did. you shoot him?" I said) did. 

not shoot. him. That is all I asked him 

Did the deceased regain consciousness at any time 

neur Hospital.. 

CI You asiced the deceased no questions while he 

there on the Street? A 'I brought him there 

not in no condition- to be.asked 4ny queati:one• 

Q 'Sao was the antulance. surgeon? A r Bell. 

(A gentleman arises in the courtroomAt the re-

quest of  the.'District Attorney.) 

but he was 



15 that the gent.,1444147:'A Yes. 

You went to .the :•11.tispital_With::#1)0• 

ll...hact-41m...-Piker.r.-.tio_ the station house.  

The defendant took - the.,defendant•to the station 

house? AYes. 

Did. you have any coxwrsation.with -1414 any.. fUrther....-

Q Did he make any further statement?. A Nol .he si 

nothings and then he :was taken to the station house* made 

no further statement to pie, or. anibody. that I. Icnow .0 4 

g, W,b re there any marks upon the defendant? A On the 

defendant?* 

as to the Ouse. of this quarrels if there was a quarrel? 

Did he  say whether he was with the deceafied or. not? 

ABe. said nothing. 

QWliat did you do after that? A .1 had m taken to 

the station house) had his pedigree! taken and then in the 

meantime we had the patrol wagon sent for, and we took him 

down on the patrol wagon to  Gouverneur Ho43ita1. 



Took the deendant? A The defend-ant- loit;patritk, 

had been taken there 13r the ambulance surgeon n the arrikulance4 

and: then: took him in the patrol wagon.. 

When you who do you Mean? 

Officer Armstrong and Tay 

lib- the Gouverneur 'Ito' spit al? 

,brought Stahl in front of .1ilitzpE4rierk, who refused to identify 

Q State wbat he said. where Was Fitzpati4iek then? 

l'itzpatrick was laying on some operating table, like.. 

Q You broUght the defoliant into the room? Ares, 

Who waspresent? 

Q, .State what occurred tien ,whiit was said 4nd wbEkt,, 

occurred? A Officer Armstrong was there,* and mrself and. some 

other people there, some nurses, I believe, and. we brought 

StF411 in front .of him. 

or.whi4t did aryl) cv say? A 



that shot b. mo, arid he shook his head. 

'BY* IAR, SACHS: 

Did 2e shake it up or down), or yescir AO 

Was he onsoious? A YeS wat oonsoio*. 

Wets that before Or after 'Stahl .had been operated On? 

I do not think he had been operated on. 

BY THE COTJRT ; 

Q, Was he able to weak at this tame? A Yes. 

BY RR • CLAM; 

Q, Did you hear him spear? A Yes, 

BY TM COURT: 

Q, What did he sa yras talking to his sister. 

don't ;know what he 'aid to her. 

BY THE COURT': 

Ile said nothing in answer 

o shake his head in every way? A 

TIT 1R. 

Did the defendant make any .statement in the hospital? 

A 

BY THE COURT.: 

q. Did you ask ny further questions of Pitzpatrietk, or 

. did any.onel in your presen oe? A No, sir. 



By MR CLARKE: 

Q, Did not Officer Armstrong ask him something? A Yes 

e asked him the same questions I asked him. 

ay THE COURT: 

-Did he ansirer? the same .as I, shook his 

has beeri a witness here, on that ocausion? 

Mid you. see an autopsy -Performed there by him? 

A I did not see the autopsy... 

Did. you ass him preparing to perform an autopsy? 

.A yes, sir, 

-Q,. State 'whether or  not upon which the Coroner s Physician 

was about to perform this autopsy, 

Fitzpatrick? • Ayes, s' 

The same man whom you hate been testi* ng about 

as having been shot? A Yes, sir, 
the 

q You delivered the body to Coroner. a Physician 

least identified it to him? A Yes. 

Q You did. not stEy° or the performance of the autopsy? 



You. did not see .this mark on the forehead? A I did 

notice that 

Did not notiOe that at any time? 'A o 

Q, You say ow slot the defeadt,,tnt throw a revolver away 

Q u you tell the ry. more :.explicitly .just What you 

saw him .k. After... he had Opt • the .man,.. he  threw, it. away 

.33r.!:TliE.- Cola 

n the street? A Threw t. 

lthat did :you see w much of it Could,. you see? 

.could not see the reyol*er at  all, but :saw :an oject. 

That w rtwant. to -know, St w a,t yot saw? 

Q. Bow far awky were you? A .I 'Stated. 

How far awky were you A Now, :before, I made 'a roug 

guess at the Ifegistrates 

about, 125 feet away. 

,Q You were down out he sidewalk, were. you , A Yes. 

(4, 

Qour should judge now I was 

Of the southeast corner of Ilivington and Sheriff 

Streets? A Yes, sir.. 

. Q,' Were you, near the curb, or near the  building? 



And, these people were up in front about,' of 7 

S?aeriff St re e Yea, 

Ciannot you give. us an idea of  Just what you saw him. 

what hand did he tlirovt it from -u- Earl how he threw 

A His right hand. 

Then it was the hand .towards the building? 

As soon as $2:e threw dt. away) then 

In what •direction did. he thr 

aide of Sherif,f- Street 

.1/Eith the right 'hand? A Yes, sir. 

Show is hO'w he did it? A-This is Sheriff street, 

tIlitat is the west side,. and thiel is the east side. As soon 

as he shot the man, he threw it that way; and then' turned 

(1, That would be •exactly towards .the building it 

a man is running doval Sheriff Street towards • Rivington, would 

not his right side. be towards the building? A No, sir. 

HE COURT: Has the Officer, testified, when he fired 

thei shot, his left side. was towards the building 

then he turned around and ran. 



revolver? AYe8, sire 

cl Did he throw it across the street?. A 1 do no 

He might have throvn it in the gutter. 

Did he throw it towards the street? A Yes, 

7113,at is where you looked for it, afterwards? A Ye 

sir; I -went back again and looked in .that direction. 

BY R. CLAM: 

Have you ever been able to find any %of the other men? _ 

Pitzpatrick, I recognized. McCauley. I have .seen him 'before, 

but did not see: any of the, rest did not know any of 

Q, Rafe yoU seen. McCauley since? A We had, him inthe 

station holies. I do not know how the Ctiptain disposed of it. 

I did not ask, but we were instructed to arrest him, add he 

was arrested by Officer Moran, if I am not mistaken, 

I have madea good many efforts to find, him. 

4 But have not 'found him? A I could not locate him. 



Ind, you have aiwthing to do with. 'that was it on his 

sad when he fell? A. 

Row did it dome off his he did you notice .that? 

cntt know. 

Did you notice it? AlTo Br. 

When he was 'running dawn the street after the defen. 

ant, he had no hat on? A No, sir-. 

Did the defendant have his hat on es. 

Did you examine the. deceased, his clothes  tO see 

-whether there were any indications on.his clothèa of pow-

r, or anything?. A 1o, sir. 

- Did you search his body to find out if he had any re-

volver? A Yes. 

Did he? 'A No,. sir. 

How did you search? A I went through 'all his pock-

ets. Went  all through h 

I talk about the deceased? A Yes. 

Fitzpatrick? A Yes, sir. 

You went. through all his clothes? A Yes. 

4' WI:ere?. A All through his pockets. 



I suppose you searched the defendant as soon 

Wait until" we 'take them to the station house 

Q, Be had no weapon upon 

040,P$,9INATI0N 'BY ItIR. 

Q, You sr you saw. the defendant Stahl throw something 

50 feet? .A 125. .not exact 

Q About tha 

Q You stated in  the police court t}, ou were 20 feet 

3ut then was when yOu made a rough guess? 

-This* was "a very serious. matter? A It . was 

'A man had been shot?. A Yes 

q, .And yet ,you were willing to m 

the police court? A Well, yes. 



action as to the distance? A Yes, sire 

nd you did not think it was 'important enoug 

did you think it, was important enough to-

.ri.nd....04t. how -.-r4r away you, were? 

Are you prepared to 'swear thitt. what y 'wow 

away was a.revolver? 

You ..we not? A No, 

-You sEty you heard some shots fired? 

:Q Are you prepared, to swear that at the distance from 

THE .COURT: That is an absurd question. 

seen him shot 

When ..a man fires a revolver at another 

man, and that other man is finally found with a 'bullet in 

him and dies) I think it is a fair inference — 

will withdraw that question.. 



SAMS: 

You say you are not prepared to swear. that What you 4 

flaW thrown away Was a 'revolver? 

:Q -57611 were standing southeast corner of Sheriff. 

and lavington Streets? A Yes, , 

Q Had you come up Sheriff Street? A Yea, sir. 

And when you got to the corners did you immediately 

start to go east toward b-ia? AN0, I.,.0tood there. 

9, You :stood this was at..aboUt 8:25?. 'A About 

Aovemborlet?. A Noyeniber let 

Rather .dark • in that _neighborhood :wasnit it? A 

it was. It is.night. time  8:25. 

do not want you guess, I want to know ..what your 

opinion was I ain wi3.1ing to take ybur:opinion as to ,whether • 

it  Was light or dark on that Corner? A There was a- lamppost  

only ,light? .A Yee: 

an the northeast corner, that is, 

the !saloon-, and exactly opposite you 

• .Q, This corner where, you see. the word saloofl 

there any people standing on that corner? A Yes. 



ling of some 'kind., 

id you hear any speakers? A Yes, they were about 

•o' mow any ody.-hEd been ,..sPetinng bSfore you„ :D You ;  

clime up? A i do t know; there Might have been. 

Q There was a political meeting? A Yes 

-'there was ,PeoPle. standing in the gutter? A Tags sir; 

_a few people 

Were there twenty f ve?. A Not as ma.rti as that... 

They were. :standing right in, the gutters not on the 

Sidewalks around some stand? A There was sone. in the gutter 

a some on. the Si deWalk 

what occurred. ,at 77 were there any people passip.g in 

front Of .you, or were the people wb.o were standing in the 

gutter in front of. you When you were. standing on this corner 

-A There was some people passing up and Amin it is a  buts 

street • 

Q Are yow willing to:testify that the distance between 

.77 Sheriff Street and the corner was so .clear • that you could 

see everything that happened? A No, sir. 

Q sows there was 'a political meeting on this corners. 

wasn't there? . Undicatingi. A I don't 'think tlere was. 

Q Did you make any investigation •ae_ to that fact? 



MR. SACHS: 

On the cornet diagonally opposite 

the  southwest corner; 

THE WITNESS: There is a crowd of young fellows 

usually cOngregate there.• 

u about that do yon remember- whether - 

on the night of the firSt of November, and I wii, help Your. 

memory along,. whether Dr .not on the southwest corner 

Sheriff and Rivington Streets c there was apy meeting being held 

.by the Social Democratic Party? A I don't  think 

o But you don t-knoW? A I ain't po.sitivei no, 

The matter, wb,s not of sufficient importance for. you 

0111,1e any investigation? 

northeast *corner? 

Q But you. say that your vision as to ho. 7? Sheriff 

Street was not clear, that is people were all the time pass-

lug up and down- in 'front? A Ye § sir.. 

Q This was a matter of about 125 feet' :between the 
t.t 

point where you were standing and 7-7 Stieriff Street? A Yes, 



How . maw men 4o you.Stor cams out. of 77' ,Sheriff  Street? 

A About four or five. 

.Your or five 41. Yes. 

are .y u prepared to ear .that you 00 

recognize the the facei of any of the people who calm 0 of 

No 77 Sheriff. etreet ? A • yes, sir,. 

You. can 'swear to that? A Ye a, air 

From the point where you were standing on the 'corner 

there? A Yea, air. 

q 'A distance of 125 feet away A Y 

'VilhOse tube did yoUx;ecognise Fitzpatrick and. 

McCauley.They were together. 

Fitzpatrickand; McAuley? A Yes r. 

How' did, you come to know McCauley? 

the neighborhood. 

You have lied in the neighborhood?. ' AY 

And. McCauley lived .in the neighborhood? A Yes._ 

Did you have any trouble with McCauley? A 

Do you know if the precinct to which y.ciu are attach -

the officers of the precinct .to which you are attached, 



any trouble with McCau.ley? Ayes. 

'tots of trouble with McCauley A Yes. 

How long dick you know Pitipatrick? 

Objected 

Objection 'sustained. xoept.on. 

- THE COURT: You may £  sk the question, what.you 

want to know, but you cannot a8k other things which 

do not want t know. You can ask how he became ac 

(painted: with Fitzpatrick. 

BY MR • SACHS: 

You say you knew tzpatrick• a couple of years? 

Q 'How often had you seen Fitzpatrick • n those yea:re 

and off every week or 

Q Will. you say you saw him twice a week for the -past 

a week for the •past three years? 

because in the past three year  he has been Eierit away. 



n the last y_e_4r, haw often have you seen him? A Ve 

Wwenty t year 

-`11:en times in the  past ,year? 

PitzpEitrick? .A No, sir.. 

Q, You have just said; before that 

of times, a week for the past few: years 

THR COM , Be said: every we 

and that is not a couple of times a week. 

114R. SACHS: I thought he said a couple of times a 

q But, you knew Fitzpatrick?• A Yes, 

Q, When Fitzpatrick came out of the door of the saloon, 

with McCauley, yo-u• recognized. them?' A Y 

Be cause you had known them? A Yes, 

Officer, .did the man whol fired those 8tB cme out o: 

that same saloon? A.Re came right behind them. 

Q. Out  of the saloon? A I ainrt• poEd,tive whether he 

came out of the saloon but I seen him come right behind them 



YOU t know if  .he... caMe: .salcont.: 

.t-inUed). #3-04.4467.4 

(Question . repeated X am not poeitire, but 

think he did. 

Q Thu ave..'Made..' an  affidavit • in thIB oEis:437: A Yes, 

Q Do you remember 041.0. the ..affidavit contained? A Yes. , 

'gpyi :many peOPle'. were in -Fitzp,.atriCk.',.s.:*L*rty„ inelud 

the you.: .claim • shot him? altogether, four or 

• five.• 

You r'emember swing in yoti affidavit, saw the 

deceased Richard FitzPatrickl and three or four others, come 

°tit of the saloon Ito 7 Sheriff street? A Yes. 

Q, Di.a. you Mean by that, that the man who Shot 

.Patrick came out of that saloon? A No sir. 

Q You did not? 

Q, You say the man that shot Fitzpatrick came from be-

AYes 

Q Did he then walk ahead of Fitzpatrick? A. Yea, sir. 

Q Bow long had you been looking in thedirection of 

Fitzpatrick before you heard the .shot? A About five 

minutes. 

Q Was Fitzpatrick standing in front of 7°7 Sheriff 

Street all that time? Well, little while, and then 

walked down. 



During all,:th10- time, youkv elk øt No.7? .:Sherlf 

. Street- and the -people who had Come 'out of that place, 

was not unobstructed?- A- There was people going up and dawn. 

au ,at times lost sight of these men who had. adze out 

of the saloon? A Toast sight?,- no, r. 
do not mew for 44* great 1 ngth of time, for a 

-minute', or less-than.a minute,..perhaps? A Well slxuid 

..rt s„Eor. a minute not. 4 minute, 

You were not. Paying any great attention to them., 

were kou A I was watching 

There was no  quarrel there that , you au* No. 

• Or heard? A No 

•You•:were • Standing oi your .beat? A Yea: * 

at all? A No, different pre c inot 

CI You were looking at them •b t not paying any great  

. attention tq them at all/ 

Was all: 

You saw no fight at all? A rio, sIr. 

How long before this night had you last seen Trai-

ot4a. A I should judge about a week or so. 

How long had you known the defendant. Stahl? A I 

t know him at all, only. have seen him around• 

A 1. was looking a. Umrn, that 



You saw him around there n the evening? A .0-14 

()Una- 'seven or eight o'clock?.41.. 

Aid 'perh&ps a little later? A•Yeli 

n you tell u • how often you hee ever seen him 

tagetheit I 441)044 say I..did not .see him only:a..feW.'. 

Q, Elver haveltify trou ;le with him? A o, -never .had an 

tio'uble • 

Not .at. all  A 

Never had any ocoasio,n to arrest him‘ for anything? 

sir. 

Did you ever see him brought in your precinct as 

a prisoner?. A Not since I have been there.. 

Did you •ever 

of 2itzpatilok? . A No, s. 

Q,You stv that .when you saw these men come ,Out. of the 

saloon, you say* that the. Man  whom you afterwards claim: 

shot Fitzpatrick was talking to him,,,did. you? A I did not 

ant erstand your. giterition. 

Q You say that you 1341,1 the man who shot FitzpatriCk 

first talk hiM ark then ,walk away A. He did not speak to 

n 



41 Did you testify on your direct examinatiOn that when 

Iitit!patricic and the other  man :ottmeout of the Saloons, the 

moth who  .att ervikrais 1010V- Fitzpatrick. Bspoke 

COURT: No, he said they were standing. in a 
talking to each .other. 

Ie'wati not speaking to-li!itzPatriOkf-

BY •1111. SACHS: 

But they were standing in a group? 

Was he  In the......grOu 

BY1R. gACES: 

,Now, you say. the man who afterwards 

atrick, dame, from behind.. 

Did he stop' in that group .and then go forward abou 

seven feet?, 

Then he stopped when .he Camp up to them? A Yes. 

spoke to them? 

•Any discUssion? A They Were 

Q, \Ver there any loud voices? • A.No • 

• Any quarrel? Alto, 

You mean to stv that the man who fired the. revolver 



Or who OhOt ritsPlAtrfek, did not quarrel with hi 'that night?. 

Not while they were in your Presence 

I thought you aaid,you could not hear it? A They 

were not quarreling they might have been talking together. 

BY '11R SACHS: 

All this time, as you eaid.before ere, were people 

passing up and down in front of them?' A Yes, 

..And, there was--a crowd at the political meet 

Ares, sir. 

Is there any possibility that y.qu are mistaken in 

,your identification of the defendant? A I could not .say 

that. 

What*? A I could not s-ay that.  

Dc you mean to say that you _are not sure it is the 

defendan 

HE C91.1Ris: He did not say that put your qu.es-

tion right. You asked him if there was any possibility. 

There is a ptissibility Of anything. 

BY MR. SACHS: 

Q Is it possible that you may be mistaken as to.your 

identification of the pertion who shot 43.ff that revolver? 

A There may be a doubt, because.he was such a distance tong. 



•Did you losesight of hilt at a* time 

the man fire the pistol? A Yes, . • 

You Saw him make a motion to throw something, 61. 

you. SEM him ,run 

im and ca 

Was it the stone That 440 the same man, 

You did. not lose him out of your eight? 

:..-B-etween,-. the time the sh9t. wasfired, the shot r 

arid the that. - you ,pan--:".the-...iti.grt4nce 12$ or 100 feet,. 
Lily People. Otos in front-.of•.you? A Yes sir. 

..Ths. Moment .the shots Were fired, there was  some 

.And there was acme Che;nge in their positions? 

Q They certainlyw wt kiad occurred? 

Q. Did the people •standing at the pcilitICiLl meefing 



Did : not some g0.0 '.towards .the 13-OWery 1"A et -s 

And -did not some coMe:..dOwn.Sheriff? :- Ayes, sir. 

And  some east On. Iiiiitingt :on Street? -4 Yes, a 

4 Do you mean .to sthe; crowd. did .licit...diSperise? AY.e .. 

And that there Were: peOPle in your wr before you go 

to Stahl? A'Yes...-

didn u say so at first? A I .did say that 

y Tp2. ..001.1.11T . 

.You saw. man fire.two ..stiote.7 • A Yes, , Or • 

And. then turn around and start to run ..in Your direc-

tion? A Yes. 

Was there anything that did. interfere_ With your see n 

him an n.lacjills mistaking EnOth,er.Person for him? A There 

was people passing up .and .down. There might have been. 

q That is not ,the question, Was he ...sufficiently under 

bServation. to render you cert n that  'thi.s.was the man 

that fired the 'shot, the marr::tiat,),!as running in your di-

rection, and- whom you arrested? A There may be .4 dQUbt I 

-because there was people passing after I heard the shot, before 

caught him.. 

Do you arrest Men where you have/ a doubt as to their 

identity-, and. charge them with the crime of murder .in the 

first degree, when--77ou haw a doubt about it? A Ye 



You *testified before the Magistrate there... was .no 

mt.itake about it? A Yee. 

That was so on 'after the shoot in day Or two.. after? 

If there was a, mistake about i -what change has 

• come over you since A IT'othings 

considered this thitzg. 

Who have you talked with? A N b 

You have not talked .with anybody? A Nobody. 

You talked.' with, the District Attorney?? Al have. 

Q He is somebody? 

alma have you talked with? A Nobody 

Did you talk With Officet Armstrong? Ayes.. 

Q. Isn't he somebody? Ayes. 

got to „name every person you talked with,. 

before ,you will tell whom you talked with -- han't you 

been talking with various people about this? 

Have riot friends of this defendant been to. see yo.u1 



Do you: know if:•*1),04p•.were:MOte t bn .one who Started 

o Dun towards 4ivington? A .Tfierg„ was a few. 

That. atrted to 114a towards *in, ?=,' 0 sir. 

You •-were coming ..towards theM? .4 Yea, 

arrested.. the Man ttait. Was nearest :to. you? 

.4 Yea: 

BY .TIE COURT:: - 

The man you arrested, was. he t1 na tIlat .loitoatrick-

was .chasing? A Yes,- :sir, 

Br MR. SiiCHS : 

Bow many men were running toViards 'you, do you know, 

Were there two? A gore thin two.  

'Your? A bout foUr, 

.4, :And jitSPatric4, was he in front of them or behind' 

them? A He was in the rear of 

In the re ar of • the four? A Ye 8, sir. 

Q Bow obn you . state which man PitzpatriCk was running 

after? . A I don t know; I cannot sr positively. 

BY TBE COURT: 

q Why did you sr a little while-_ag& that_ PitzputzUkt___ 

at the time that he fell, *was with.in two feet 'of thib Man, 

you were arresting? A There- -was other people around. 

•Q; Mould there be any other People between the man. he 



*GA ch81ng, a Jftzpatrio; 

Q. When he re. Only 

he ot near Itivin 

ou Said at the time Pitzputrick fell, when you arrest-

ed the other man, he was Within two feet? A AboUt two feet. 

Were there any people bet,w.een Pitzpatrick and the 

defendant a the time Yes. 

Kow znanf Men pan :ouput in two feet of space 

think . You can put a 0.0:01-e. 

T4py must be mighty. thin they were iøt police 

-officers., I 'take it? 

1$y 3043. 

You say Pi.tzpatz-iok was behind the four men? A' Yes,  

erefores you don't know'lhich man he .was phasing? 

A I cannot sy. pO sitively 

BY 1111 C 

Q . Why 0.id you .arrest the defendant?. A Why did I 

,arrest him? 

Q, .Yes. A. BecauseI ;thought h d'ond 

it QWhy-d.idn't you rrest one f the .other men that was 

crowded in this space of two feet? A BiatcauseI had seen him 

before in this crowds before the shooting occurred. 

Iffby didn't4ou detain the others as witnesses, 



they were there between the 

did the ',boating, as you 84 

You did not ;arrest them? 

Did you question then? A The- Citizen's clothes  

men ,did detectives, from  the station house 

What are the names of the mien? A I don't  know;,o. 

Q Didn't ou teStify before the Nagiistra e as follows, 

"They had just ame out of the '*loon and -1 noticed .tthe 

defendant walk away from Fit zpatrick and pull out a r 

volver ad shoot twice at Fitzpatrick, lie ran away, and. while 

running away the defendant threw tli 

ran up and. arrested the defendant. 

male a motion to throw something away? 

object, upon .the ground that it oox 

he word nrevd.lver when the officer testified • 

that 'b.e cannot swear there was a revolver in Stahita 

THE COURT:. The question is, did n 

that read the question again. 



(The question is repeated by the . stenographer 

itien you say stAV saw the defendant pull the 

revolver Out and AL.• saw after 

wards Make ti motion to throw something 

T COURT: e-ave. out tie wards'puU'.the -revolver 

shot and the motion to throw •away something? 'A Tut a ,second,* • 

Was it or was it not • the same /tan. that : you testified 

efors- the Mg istr4te that .you sa* throw the gun. away, whom ,yotk 

previously seen fire the shot? A I don't know if it was 

And that took place within econci after. the sboót' 

A Yes, sir. 

Q. Was that the 'same man A The same man that 

threw that thing away.. 

•Q, You do not .wEisnt the jury.to find. that you taw. one man 

fire and sa*.another throw something sway?. A It was the same 



the vans man- that you saw =taw the .motiori :to throw 

thing _away? rA I don't 

MR. SACHS: I object to that s ,incompeten 

vant and immaterial. The officer has tare testified 

that there were four or :five men `coming towards. him after., 

the.shots were fired. 

Objection overruled. Exception. 

R. CLARKE: 
• 

You have testified.that won ail he 'fired, 

brew the gun away, and. then immediately. turned around? : 

'Yes, 

around, after making the motion tQ throw something across the 

street a: the same man who made the motion to throw aomes. 

thing EarO 88 the street? A Yes, sir.. 

Now, you have him facing yo A Yea, aLr. 

Q you could see his face then? A Yes 

q,' Did not you see, this aereic1ant,. Henry Stahl, then 

you. saw -hi I did. 

By THE COURT: 

ct You knew him? A Yes. 

By --101 CLARICE: 

"What..did he do? A Ire run towards Itivington Stree 



You run towards In the.meantime) some 

rissersby 

You, got nearer. run too,. 

kd heEot hearer to .you? - 

ous both approached . each other? A .Yesi. 

You were police ..offiCer' seeking to arrest 

You kep your eyes upon hi . A SEG 

Now long before you, caught him t was not snore 

than two seconds wQ6 it? A ‘About a minute. 

Sure. about tzmt to get Loro as the street twent 

five feet?. A t was more than twenty-five feet. 

Fifty "feet? A About forty feet 

It didn't take you .a minute to run forty feet? 

og. 

must haVe took less, then. 

You kept your eyes upon 'hi Ayes. 

You did not want him to get away? 

You thought he had coramitted a crime? 
• 

You mean to saor, the man you caught, as ran towards 

not the sane man who turned around and. ran towards 

Yes. 

Irilt,t? A Yes. 

That is your answer? A I said yes. 



It is the same man? A Yes. 

It ws te saiie man? A Yes. 

You have not any doubt ab-o-u-t--,it? A Yes. 

,v4Eit you testitiecj bOtore the  gagi*tiqc4.. wkii•your. 

conscientiousc opinion of what took place?  A 

.tiMe really to consider this thing over,' 

We ,d n t want you  to consider 3.t overyou remembered' 

What ,todit place .17.rox,14 

you have any intention to ,.tell:.anything.blefore the  

Then you came down to the 'District Attorney's office? 

And y*ou made deliberate,. sworn statement 'before the 

Distriot. Attorney? A Yes. 

Q, And signed it and swore to it?, A Yes. 

That you intended to be true? A Yes. 

Q • In that you stated, "I then saw the defendant Karr 

• Stahl walk fi7om Fitzpatrick, and when he got about seven 

feet away he pulled out a revolver from his !pocket and shot 

twice at Fitzpatrick. Fitzpatrick. ran after the defendant 

•Stahl, who ran down Sheriff. Street to Rivington, where 

arrested him, 'Didn t you so state to Mr Kernoohan, the 



.1)ktrict :.Attor.ney. 

Q d.yon swore to it? A.•Yes.. 

You intended  't 11 tta:...truth?::: •••.. 

Q It wa3 the

 

-truth?:A There is 
. . 

there .was no -,d-otibt... befOre 4he..‘,7tagistrat e 

air. no d oUb t,•.when!' yOU made the.•:..Stateme.rit..before.the pie.trict. 

Attorney, but  now here • you have a doubt* wby i.s,that? 

.cause .w..1..c'onsOienoe feels that way. 

;gobOdy has' talked to 'yOu?. 

Q Sure about 

Q Armstrong has .talked.to you? A I have spoken to 

yes 

Who t, spoke 'ou1 the case, 

defendant being the man 

Your doubt has arisen since 
• ----

What has caused it? A liecause: I was mistaken, n . 

noesfor that reason -- that'I thought the. min that 

this man there may be b. 'doubt in'rry mind. 

Q We don't ask you to reoogni to his floe when you first 



salr hims b we ar tryirtg to find out _if 41 • was the same 

an you finUr arrested.you say it was the matyou 

final  .rrested .was. the Man YOU saw fire was .41 'not.? 

Yes r. 

'.Ct

 

It does not taka any great amount of eye-sight to 

keep a....man in sight even if you dontt recOgnizeliho he is, until 

you catch him, does it? A 1o, ir. 

BROS$.1.C.1.1111TAT;ON. BY B sAciipt 

.q,.. l'or a eborttime befare you heard. ts slot- fired, 

you -saw these people in front .of 77 Sheriff Street? I did'. 

•'And, of the people who were standing there in front of. 

that store, thre were, some with their back3 turned,.towards 

oul A yes, sire 

was after the thots Were fired :that tho.et two, 

among others and ran. towards you? A Yes. 

Did you see •the face or those whose backs were turned 

towards you, before the shot was fired? A 

Were they standing close t,ogether A Yea. 

was after the shot Was fired that they 'started to 

run towards you? A Yes.. 

. You say that among the two whom bacias were turns 

var.-4 



1,0444,0011.4, 

towards you, Stahl was one,.is that right?. A: His back? 

Yes. A Yes. 

His buclz...was turned tOw4rds.'yolx?. 4k. es. _ . . 

U. say it was one of the persons *hose bkok wasturn-

ed towards you,w1o. fired- the Shot? AYes sir. 

Now, oan YOU swear Which of ,those •two persons -held 

the revolver? 

BY THE cotaT 
How close were they standing Jose her,•.? .4 They were 

together in bunch, 

When the shots were fired? A. Yes: 

y did You ...say that the defendant walked .Seven feet 

away before- he fired the 'shot? 'A He did walk seven feet 

Q 1y d you sr at the 1ime the shot was .fired they 

were standing in •a bunch' together? A Rot when the 
shots

 

were fired. 

BY THE NINTH JITROR: 

Toil me whether he h 

Overcoat? 

Q. -Ye s A 

BY MR'. SACRS:' 

Q. Did 'any of the others have on. overcoats? Al don't 

remember. 

d on his Overcoat that nigiat? 

S.. 



nave you talked with him about his testinionr in this 

cum? A No, sir.; I have not spoken atau to him.• 

Did. xou ever ,tell this boy what -he 11;414 ay- On a 

odottsion? A ,No, s 

the People 

Y THE COURT: 

How old arey: uT A Rieven years. 

you go to school? Ayes. 

What school? A Sheriff Street Pblio School. 

Q,' That is your religion Hebrew? A Yes. 

Do you go 'to church atall? A yes. 

Every week? A Yes. Q, 

Now, do you,know why. 

a witness. 

To 'tell the truth' about a certain thing? A Yes. 

hey broUght you.d wn.hgre? 

you know what it is to take an oath, to tell the 

th., to swear that you will tell the truth? A Yes. 



SuPpo se you took an  oath to te 21, the truth) and did 

not tell the truth; what vfotila happen to you? 

truth, an 

To -swat; -tell the truth and not tell the.701-4 

do you, think it would be wrong? 

Q Arid if ..you sgehr to the truth, you will. tell. 

And nothing more? A Yes. 

Q Do ciu think you Can. do that? A yes. 

THE COURT: I WL11 let him, be 

The witness is sworn, and testified as follows) 

DIRECT =AMIN RION BY R. CLARKE: 

Where do you live9 A 74 & 76 Sheriff Street 

In this citsir.y?  

How old er e you? 

Who do you live 

Eleven years. 

with? A I live in the house 

Sheriff. 

"Who with? A Father and mother. 

Q, Now, do you remember the night of November let, 

A ' Yes. 

*len this. trouble took place 

Q Do you remember some political meeting on the corner 



there? A Yes. 

Which corner *as it . on? A, Sheriff and Bivingtbn, 

he saloon? A By the druggist's. 

Now, you .know this officer Meyer, who waø on the 

stand? -A Yes. 

Do you•remember bein out, on the street that night? 

-What time? A Half past 

You were out there at half-past ght ? A Yes. 

!hat were .you doing!? A Playing with the boyz. 

Where were youl wt street , were you on? A On the . . 

ht in front of your house whereyou live? A Yee. 

.Do you know the saloon across'  the street there? 

"that number is  that? 

Who keeps that? A Rosie Hend.erer, thebo 

is the boss? AYes. 

Did you know Richard Fitzpatrick? A.Yes:. 

Q. Do you •know his brothers? 14 Tres., _ 

Do you know this defendant?: A • Yes. - 

CI What is .his name? A Harry Stahl. 

How long have you •known Iiim?.-A.About four mosths. 



Did you see him that evening 

Diii yousee Richard.Pitztricle thkt. evening? 

Where? , On the sidewalk 

WhereaboutS? A About T?, by the beer saloon, 

Did you See anybody Come out of that saloon about 

8030 that night? .A Richard l'itzPatrick and Tom 11:cfau1e 

'You,know.Tom Itodauleir? A tee. 

Anybodyelse With.h - ANo, sir. 

You mean- You did not recognize anybody.else? ANo 

As they came ()IA of the saloon what direction did 

theyin? A. Wrnt to RivingtOn 

Q Down towards Rivingtuon? A Yes. 

Turned dove) right as they came out? A Yes. 

Did they stop , 

Sure about :t that 

talk on the curb there? A Nb. 

A Yes, 

Were you watching these' men carefa ly, 

A I VMS . playing. 

Q So' ou would not be sure about: that woul 

A. No. 

$94 Did you hear any hots fired? A Yes. 

4 How many?' A Two. 

r playing? 



q. Bow far apart? A About ten feet br . . 

Row cio se  were the shots to e ch other, h w 1 

time between the two sh.cits? 4 Ie minutes. 

q Take a pencil and rap on the table, the distance b 

•- (The witness- 'indicates by.:  Btr.iking twice on the 

table as directed. 

You would not call that -five. minutes? 

*R. CtARP; We will agree. that that  is about two• 

seconds.. 

NCR. SACHS: No. 
TIE COVRT he jury can Judge what it• is. 

• 

Were yub..lapking towards the other side of the 

Street when these shots were fired? A Yes. . . 

How many men 41 d you see over there then? A T o 

Who? A Richard Fitzpatridc and Tom McCauley. 

Didn't you hear gcCauley .say something to Fitzpatrick? 

8. 
.What was it? • A 1:1:e said, on and run". 

• Objected to. 

•I'M CLARKE: We claim that w 

the defendant was there. 

have' other 'proof that 



BY nag 'do T: 

Was Harry Stahl there ,at the time? A 2o, X did not 

see *Harry St-

BY MR drataum: 

Where was he? 

- Q, How do 3rou know where he was?.'b -told me. 

Did you see anybody run 'down tie street? A: • Richard 

Vitipatriok.. 

Who .waii he running aster? A Beran around Ole oar -

aft er 

BY.THE COUBT 
.Q, :When these S110"t13, were. tired) s soon s•yQu. heard 

them, did you turn around .and look, r were YOU  looking *a 

the time? A I was looking at the -boys playing. 
• Q, When you heard the shot did y x turn 

ook? A Yes. 

Q , Did you see who did the shooting? A 

around. an 

see. 

BY MR: LARICEI 
lifby did youteU the District Attorney tha 

did not 

USE.W6.0. 



You  Were In his. office On the .17th:-o Tbnury?es 

by did. you. tell. hm that you .saw.'t is defendant shoot 

FitzPatriCk? A I had afraid,. 

Did you sign, that affidavit?. -

That is your signature? Ahig? 

  oLoo1 at you signiktuke  Jacob Ber et? A  

You  oan write? A. Yes 

And. you can read.? 

.Aft e±  talking it over with Mr. KernoChan do you 

remember his calling in a stenographer and having it written 

out? A 'Yes. 

• It wa8. read. over to y A Yes. 

And y'ou. signed ? A Yes. 

.Q, 

Then entleman came In 

A Notary? A Yes. 

and swore you? A. re s 

Q, .Do you. mean to say you told an untruth then? 

A I had afraid that night, that day 

Q *What? A I had afraid. 

BY THE COURT,; 

Finish your answer. 

.Q That day? A Yes. 

That they _would 'do what? A I don 

A I was *afraid. 



ernooban Ith.o do you mean by they A Mr.

ct You, were afraid of the District Attorney? A Yes 

BY MR. ARICE4 

'What 'did he di) to you?Nothing. 

He treated you nice and ki d es. 

Was he kind to you? A Yes. 

Did he threaten You., make any threats to tAr 

but Dobby Meyer threatened me. 

Q - The 'office'?. A Yes. 

Rave you.kno.wn him a good. while Na,only .si,nce 

that night. 

He threatened you? A Yes. 

.What did he threaten o d e said I su1d say 

that Harry Shot it. 

He said that you should sw that Harry shot it? 

A He told me to say all the things I don't know. 

Q Then you did sign this paper? A tea. 

Q You did say to Mr.Kerno.cir n and sign an affidavit, 

that you saw Richard Fitzpatrick come out of the saloon? 

A -Yes. 

(4, 77 Sheriff Street, with Toni Matauley? ., A yes. 

',That saloon is on the opposite side .of Sheriff 

Street from. where I was standing Ayes. 

.41 !Tam McCauley was out in the middle of the gutter 



d Richard Fitzpatrick was on the Sidewalk ? A Yes. 

I heard McCauley say to Fitipatric !Hurry up • • 

leave that out I BEM liar 

Stahl, the defendant, and two or three ,other. men whom I do 

not 'know, Oome from kivington Street just as Fitzpatrick 

and if (419..ey came out of the saloon. I saw Harry Stahl -

:take a revolver, out of his pocket and f1/4e two or tired 

shots .at Fitzpatrick..84W -Harry Stahl run away toWardS 

Riv.ington Street, &ndl SEM Officer Meyer. arrest Harry Stah3. 

0:1 the corner of R1v3.ngton and Sberiff Streets. After the 

shots were fired I saw Richard.Fitzpatrick'run after Harr 

Stab.l and then fall -down on the corner of Sheriff and ivIr 

on Streets. Dobby Meyer forced me. to sty that, 

Forced you to skay that? • A Yes. 

Q, Where have you been living since that affair?.• 

74 '8c /6 Sheriff. 

Right down in that neighborhood? A Yes.. 

BY TIM COURT: 

Q. Where .did. you have the talk with Policeman Meyer 

Am Mr . Kernochan, s office.. 

.You heard him here just before you came up, you. 

heard. him say that he never talked to you; is that true? 

A Not 

YR, CLARKE: Never told. him what 



WITNESS: ,-He sPo e to me, in the court.. 

BY TBE COURT: 

',bat did- he toy u in Court?. A He  said, rbici you 

see -Nur said was .afraid, End then I said yes 

BY ER 

,Did David:Meyer threaten y 

Q, Was itr. Kernothan there? A Y 

You, know Mr. Bernochan9 A Teo. 

What did.Davi-cl Meyer say when he was there?, A He 

said Harry Stahl shot. 

Q, He said that you should say that Harry Stahl' fired 

the shot? A Yes. 

Mr. Kernoohan sat there? A Yes. 

Q, And heard what he said? A Yes. 

'Sure about that? A Yes. 

What did Mr Kernoch.an s& 'Nothing-. 

Be said nothing? • A No 

Vitiat did theofficersay he would di) to you if yOU did 

not say that?. A Put me in the biggest prison. 

Q Who. has been to see yoi about this, ell us about i 

nobody will hurt you, A What that? 

q. Since you saw Mr. Kernoohan, who has talked to you 

.about t hie? A No o me. 

BY TIT- COURT: 



farilkody talked to yu about it? A NO, 

BY IR.OLAB: 

. . ...Tau :talked:. -9 -Ite.this-.np-On?. 

y 

talking -: 4 .:.Y-* 

•-1)14Wt-. you syoU had. seen Mr. Sc? 

have seen 3im, 

When -$1,1.4 Months 

Q Have u -teen .d.i4n11:.t. see no one.  

Svri Fox, you know hi 

he talked to you? 

Q Haven't yu seen him at all? A 

Q Do you know. a boy called Iiii twist A Yes:. 

Q. Who is he? *A A fellow. 

Re is a friend of the defendant? A Yes. 

he .has not talked 

No one  has 'talked to m 

The only reason -2y u signed this affidavit was because' 

.4i Because :the policeman and the •* Assistant 

Attorney made you sign it? A Yes.. 



The Assistant District Attorney Shvb there while 

the officer threatened you? A Yes. 

Did A No, sir. 

Did you tell y ur parents about ±t when you went home? 

- Who did You tell? A Father". 

•Q, What -did you s& to your father didn't your 

father come with you. when you first came over here A Yes. 

He told you -not to, anything? A No sir;. 

•'told me to szy what •I • know. 

• Then you went honk). id your father stay here. - 

while you made your statement? ANo, be went _home:. 

You went home and What did yott ten. him? 

told him I signed my Mine* 2.was afraid 

And that you told a lot, of lie sir. 

Didn't you te.11 him that? ,A .N 

Q • When did you first tell air body that you t4d a lot • 

of lies? A I didn't• tell anyone I told. a lot. of lies. Just 

'now I told yo 

Q, This was the first. time You told. anyb 

affidavit. is not true? A Yes 

Q . You never told anybody ell* that.? A. 

N.ot even your_.father? A No.. 

ci Why didn't you tell szonebody A I told him.that 

dy that this 



signed mr. name. That was a 

Q, • You knew this man w&s going to be tried for this crime?- • • 

And yet you never told agly Pdy you b4d been forced' to 

swear to pti a falsehood? A*I never told •anybo 

BY TIM COURT: 

Q, You answered one of my questions in this way 

asked you 1.f you wore to tell the truth and then you., did not  

tell the truth what would happen to you and you said you  

wOuld bb put In prison? A Yes, sir. 

R, Did yc.iu. know that at that time, or did y tt learn that 

since • Since—that time. Since Debby Meyer told me I 

would get in serious trouble. 

Who told you .that? A DobbY Meyer. 

Then it is Since -3r ix have made the etat ement to the 

District Attorney that you learned that you plight go to prison 

if you swore falsely? A Yes.. 

- You learned that from the .policeman 

BY IIR CLARICE: 

Q, And yet the Policeman told you, to wear falsely? 

• k Yes. 

Q Do you want to go to prison? A No. 

'Waren t you down to Eiee Mr . Kern o dhan two or three 



times? A.Yes 

Q. At which time did you sign the .affidavit, he fir 

time The last time. 

You told the se story every time 

CRS: No, he has no 

MR. OL 

Ddy u tell anythingdifferent the first tiMe? 

fhat did you sev: he first :time told him*• 

when I .heard the shots X ran up in the house. 
Q That was all you. said to Mr.'Nernoilhan the'fird 

time? A es!. 

. Did h ask you who fired the shot? A No, sir: 

Tie did not ask you? A A, littI arterwarda he asked 

.How long afterwards? • About a. quarter of an 

hour afterwards 

It was the first .time you went there?' A Yea. 

Q trirti you. told your story to Mr. Kernochan? A Yes. 

Q Re had this paper drawn up? A Yes. 

ile read it to- you? A Yes. 

Q Then you didinot sign it tbe first day -.A.No. 

But you came doWn another day uni signed it? 



You. had m' to think over? 

qc You had, time to tell your parents if you were forced 

o swear to 4 falsehood? A Yes. 

Q An et you came down and then .swore to it the next 

time9 A Yes. 

You did. not sy_ anything to Mr,ICernochan about no 

wanting to sign it? A NO 

q

 

Did. you tell Mr. Kernochan that the policeman had 

thfeatened you? A No, 

Q, The policeman was not there the second time 

sir. 

Nobody threatedect you. when  you signed. .this paper? 

sir, 

Xa. it not a fact that this ia the truth, that you 

now want to tell a falsehood to save this man is not that. 

he truth? A 'That is that? 

Q lishrat yoIx swore before Mr. Xernochan was tie truth? • 

A Yes. 

Q Ind what you are swearing t 

before I .cannot. see _because there was too -much men 

over there 

*see? 

too much people over there how 

.g you say now you saw Pitzpatrioli- nd Mcbauley?.. 



ould have -him retained for further . . 

nveeti ration of the very serious thing he states, 

it motiori 

grant the-l-mittion 

assuming What h 

his .being t4reatened, but 14/0 

have /fr. 1ernochar3, here; who w-ill. dispcfp of the Star 

that he was Mr et:it e fled, u mean throw it out be-

cause he change sit so often. 

because it IS very unreliable. 

lTo:body believes for a minute that Mr. Keinochan would 

allow a threat to be made • I will let the testimony 

if you like, 

for what it is wort 

offer this bat 

no diwu e that it was the hat Worn 

the night in: question. 

Received in evidence, and  marked People Nichibit 3.. 

TEE. COURT: zither the policeman was wrong in making 



the arreet and making the charge,:or hel was wrong su-

Sequently. in his testimony here He May have been  

,scientious in both, but it brings the police greatlY 

into diereputewhen they are charged, in :the first 

place with over zeal in. tryingto convict innocent merit 

.and: then it confirms that view of the case which some of 

he public take when one of tketii admits that he did :te-

consider and change .hie.testimony .-in most par-

tieulars. Tait will let tile case: go.,evvor.uiltp, 

half.,Paet- ten to-morrow .morning. 

-THE. CLAIM: I would like to examine Dr. Bell, now', 

I"Viti;?e-4e .-adjourn, with your -lionor. permission. 

oH .LS B ELL:c ailed as a witnese in, behalf of 

the People being duly sworn and, examined testified 

as follows: 

BY BE COVRT:. 

Y.(311 are a p eician' and surgeon? Ayes. 

Attached to Gouverneur Hospital? A, Not at present. 

Yau yere t1re on the let of November last? A.Yes. 

Did you bring the man Fitzpatrick to. the hospital'? 

Yes. 

What was condition?? 



from that wound? 

In the hospital? A Yes, 

Q And s de livered oVer then 

sentative? A. As far as I remember. 

dbserve hia Clothes* *10er tiere was a 

,powd.er marks?. A ...the Shirt was *POO .when I too); 'him. 

;Did, he have an overcoat o 

Did the bullet *found. pass. through? A .We* through 

.Whatclothes? A The. underehirt; 

J)Id. not pass through, his coat?' A I did not see it 

the shirt was thrown back.. 

Q Did you notice rr 3narks near his eye? A No, I did. 

Was anything 

A He .would not talk. 

Do u remember the officer bringing this. defendant 

in,•wi2ehe laid there n the drug store? A I remember 

him bringing someone in .b t I couldn't sky whether. it wat3 



Was tiier-e  thig. said b the deceased as to -w o 

7fghot him? Al don't remem er 

_BY TRE COURT: 

Q. Did he at air time, while in the hospital, make any 

statement as to who •shot him? A I did not Dec' him after 

brought him in. 

The Court dmonislw the Aury in acoprdanoe with. 

Section 415 of the Code .of rimina1 Prooedure, and take* 

an adjournment until o.6morrow. morn#g) Yebruury 28th; .- 

.1905., at 10 *3 . 



CHARLES B EL recalled b3r the Pe ple testified. 

as follows: 

BY MR. CL 

Q As I understand. its.; this deceased, Richard. Pitzpat-

rick, died the same night he was shot November 1st?, A Yes, 

r. 

• About ten o Oloar A, 10:55. 

When did- you see him? A I saw him at 8:15, 

Just after the shooting? A Yes, sir. 

You went With him to thehospital? A Yes, sir, a. 

reported the case to Dr. Batcheller,, and did not see him after-_ 

.wards., 

cr State whether or not. .at the time you. OW him, in 

your opinion, there was ar chance of. recovery . A No 

Q None whatever? A No. 

OLARIM: That is. sufficient foundation, 

HE COL1Rt no difference what he thought 

it is what the dead man thought. 

MR. CLARE: I Want to show .both„ that .he had actually 

• no cihance to live - 

TIM COURT I If thi s =In thought it that, would 



under st-and, You have totay 

you show simply that the man be-

and -that he had no hope of recoveryi 

thoiw ,are the two es.sential facts,. 

TAME: I thought you had to show he was c-

tuaUy ing.-

THE COM -3.s not neoeøsary, Of 

course, unless he .dies you ca,nnot give a dying„..declarao-

tion 

He died within two hours. 

HE COURT: The doctor's  opinion on the subject is 

relevant only in this, if he communicated it to the dying 

• manand then if the dying man.b4ieved it . 

BY THE COURT*: 

Q Did you inform him tbat he was certain to die? 

in 'behalf of. the People, being duly sworn and examine 

testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINAT.ION BY R. LAREEV 

q, You Ere sister of the deceased, kiohard Fitzpatrick? 

A Yes sir. 



you live -Ridge Street.. 

/Id you: visit YOur brother, ItiChard Fitzpatrick, at 

the  Gouverneur Hospital on 'November 1st '"-1004?-. A Yea. 

Q After he was A Yes 

At what -tine did.youarrive at the hospital?. A A$01i 

Did s you gee him before he went to the .hOSpital? 

with him in the drug as ',they picked 

inr.up and, lrought 

Did you live near the scene, o± the soting9 'A  

sir; about two blocks 

You were summoned and went to :the drug. 'store?' 

went there just S the anu14nce came. 

Q„ And, you accompanied. him to the hospital r at' least 

there? A I went • right down after the ainbulance 

afterQ How' long  did. he. r gain consciousness? A I. 

was  there about fifteen minutes .sitting alongside of him, 

d, or what? A Yes, Or; he W6i3 in bed. 

him, "Rich, were u fighting?" And he said no, 

R. SACHS: I object to any conversation had. be* 



tween the deeeimed 444 thics witness not in the pr a-

-Objection sustained.. 

R. aLAKE we Offer this evidence as laying the 

luuttition for the dying declaration. 

BE COURT: It 1.1 no foundation. 

1111. CLARkE: I do not see how you can have a, dying 

declaration unieSS. you Cah give i. 
HE COURT: She asked if he was fighting 

C That is the Opening of it. 

BY THE COURT': 

Q, You knew he was. wounded? A Yes, but he was only out 

of the house about fifteen or twenty .minutes.. 

yoU knew he Was .wounded that isiall that 35 nee-

essary. 

BY, SIR CL 

Leave out about fighting will have. t 

in .order to direct her to ,what I want. 

112 COURT: No, direct her without leading her. 

CLARKE: 

Did he... sky anything about his condition? 

lead the 

THE COURT: First you have to show this, that this 

man believed he was dying, and that there was no hope.  

of  recovery. 

ItEl, CLAM:. 1ow can I show it except by what he 



BE COURT n"th'u 'oabject. 

Eca. Lan. That is just what 1 itak her, at di 

be say about his condition. 

BY TEE COURT: 

d he say -arorthing about himself as to his condition? 

justA Not  then. Be asked me for a .drink of water.* 

. Leave that . out, and come down to the time that he 

did say anything on that subject? 

'What did you him .arid he to you? A He, said to 

m "Lii, I, guess I am a:goner" I said "Well, Rich, do 

you  think they have the right fellow?",And he said, “Yes, 

After.. 

Objected to. 

BY TFE COURT 

UP where?. A 

BY R. CL 

They brought the defendant up there, and then took . 

him away? A Yes. 

q This conversation was atter hat? A Atter that. 



44 Was there anything 3.8e said? A 

the last thing he said beforblie died, i 

until be thought he was goin 

.1 am Et gOn e r 

Objected t 

T.BE COTE • Strike that ov. 

a goner" and I said, "Rich have they got 

Jnd he said,. "Yes,that son-of-a-gun done al 

,the only one that was brought .before him 

CROSS-2XAM:E1TATION BY MR 

Were you present when the defendant was brought before 
• i„ 

You knew he had. been there? A Yee; 

g, Did, you see him brought in there? 

He was brought in the drug store when I .was there. 

Q Did. your -brother. Sky anything when he., was 'brought 

Do you. know f* he was brought  to your brother bedside 

when they t ook him in the room where your brother was lying? 



Re was taken Up stair 

You weredownstairs? 

po.you know if they took hini.before your',brother 

A..The officer said. they did. 

ask you what the .offi cer sat 

That was What. I saw,- they took him upstairs. I don't km' 

ere they  took him. 

Q You °lilt know 

or not? A 

BY THE Co'ORT: 

Q Did. he stay anything about the defendant Stahl havin 

lazi at. all but he. told me the week "before about Stahl. 

old. ie bout -him standing behind. hm tl1, the 

THE COURT: That won't 

THE. WITNESS 

COURT Strike all that 

poourred. right . then arld there 

that when he was asked. if Stahl shot him that he sivok his 



how. he could do. it he .was unconscious when I went up, 

The police officer says be did? X went up be 

was xncving around the bed., and shaking bm6elf in all direo 

tions. X. was  there ten or fifteen mintitegt:...before.be came to. 

BY TBEi 06011T, 

The:,po4ce officer Swears .he 'refused to identi 

R. 'SACHS* 1 ask that the testimony of tbg witnes4 

e stricken out n the ground it is incompetent.. 

}12 COpRT: If it is offered s a dying -declaration, 

-shall have to exclude' 

1w.. CLARKE He said' am a- goner" 

HE. corn- "That 'son of a urt done m that is 

not definite enough for ct dying declaration. It must 

"I guess I am a gOner" A guess s not ff icient 

The only reason a dying 'declaration is received when 

not sworn to, is because it-ist suppo aid that the binned-

iate and. certain presence of the coming of death creates 

such solemnity that the person will speak the truth, 

and therefore it is regarded as equivalent taan oath 

or testimony•on the stand. B as an essential, before 

it apn. be received, it must be •shown ,that the, person 



believed, he was dying .not a guess that he was 

that he had reason to believe. he .was dying* 

SIR CLAIM; There was one additional statement 

ttthejoung lady omitted to give, 41Dout hie suffering 

-very severe pains through the heart. 

HE COMITI That makes no 'differences 

MR. CLARI: And then swing "I gues1 

•COURTI "I guess Xiat a goner" is not 9.ifficient 

evidence that he believed .he was going to die Then as 

o the peculiar testixp,onY -given by tilt other witnesses 

or the People I do not think I need. make any comment 

upon it, but I shall have to 174,4 that out air A dying 

declaration. In many cases it has been held, afte r 

n makes what is a v lid declaration, and then, adds.,.. 

t I hope I will get well" or "I think I will get we I 

that then In kes Lt objectionable so that 

received on the trial, should• he die. 

NATHAN SCHECHTE . called us a witness in 

behalf of the People, being..duly sworn and examined, 

testified through the officisl interpreter, 

as follows; 

BY MR CIAREE.: 

'Were do you live? A 75 Goerck Street, 



your busineds? A Embroiderie 

Who do you work for?, A iaviiek BA" bdway. , . 

Q You  remeMb.er. the night • of 'November at, 1904? A Yes. 

Ylere. you in the •neighborhood or Sberiff and Rivington 

Street on that, night,. about 8:01 that -night?' AYesI was 

near Rivington„ 

You saw, this polic4 officer,' • 

liceman ther'e. 

You  saw a big crowd .there? A Yes# 

You heard sane sooting there, didn't•  you? A NO. 

Do jrou. know his defendant Barry. 

Did yousee_i_him that night? 

an with a revolver in his hand that 

didn't you? A I don t 

know what they wrote down, because I cannot under St and Rag-. 

lish, and I don't know what they told, me. 

• You cannot speak Inglish?• A I can little, but 

t you talk with me up in my room 



bit, I. couldn t understand all the words. 

14, Did you make this statement about the ;revolver being 

in the defendant s hands rarrbody besides the officer? 

A No. 

You told tie officer that? A Yes. 

Q When did you tell thbt to the officer, the same 

evening? 'A No Sunday. 

q, The following Sunday? A I was in a dancing place 

Ext that time and I was in a hurry. 

-T do not ask you that when did 7QU tell the officer 

A Sunday. 

9, "Where did you tell him? A In a dancing Place. 

,Did the officer cone there? A7 yes. 

ollect that.  

And did you leave the dancing place with the officer? 

• You talked with h.im there n the dancing place 

Downstairs. 

Q Thai did the officer by you? 

Objected stained. 

Ct Then you afterwards visited theDistrict Attorney's 

office? A Yes. 

• Q, Who did yousee, Mr. Kernoehan, a young man that 



•-% -,1:;;Pt 

YQU *ipea:t0C1, .3rcur story there, didn't u A 

couldn't  understand that 

Did you repeat the same ,story .0 -there in the DiS-

otrict Attcrny'S office? 

so the Policeman. 

.1VaS not the statement prepared for you o sign? 

iR.-SACHS: I obsje et to anything that may have cc-

curred between the witness and the District 'Attorney, 

not in the presence of the defendant at the bare 

TIE COURT:- The People have a right to s-how that 

f this witness now tettifies differently frOm what he 

aid before the District Attorney, they hale a right to 

show that and. that has been. the principal feature in-

ObJection withdrawn. 

HE COURT: That .has been the principal feature 

n this case, the change of.testImor, and I commend it 

to the careful attention of the District Attorney. 

:BY ER . CL 

q. ask you—if what you said to the District Attorney 

was written out in a paper like that? 

was written there 



• Pict.-lou-see the .O•ffiPtir-'ai.re-st the -•defend.a*:nt.?.• 'A Yes* 

You did see that?. A Yes 

.Pi.drOt r you testir u.,-• few Ijiinutes go that you did 

not  •st.the.•deferdant.. tJiat night • 

You. said. a minute ao that you. d.id...not See ithe 

•

 defend-

ant at ll thatnight?..-  A I• 11.0n:'. ?IctioW whoj.t s, who  it•-. was. 

Oa*. that a -.Man :was conducted.- 

fandu ted? A Con•d'utt•ed "1 • • ... • 

4 DId. the man who  was arrested have a reVoIver. in his-

hand?  

did you sby he did? A I wa's in a great hurry 

o. into the. dancing •plaoe, md I didn't know what I was doing* 

Who did you wpeak to first about. it? A To nobody 

said something and then- went EawaY). 

get away, so y 

ho did you say it t ? 

A I said in my home that I saw the mitn arrested. 

4 You did not speak. to an" P.clY there at the time 

r. 

id you see a revolver in tiv hand of the man before 

was &meted? A go, sir; I just arrived there. 

Q What was the man that ,was arrested. doing when you go 

there? A Ffe—did nothing. I cane jtist.there, and I saw that 



the policeman waS Iio1dn him, and then I inunedtately went 

Away. 

Q Did, you see the man that had been .shot? A Bo, there 

was .a big crowd around. 

You went :home and told somebody that you had seen this 

affray o'this trouble? A I went up to my aunt's, and. at rfq 

aunt place I didn't sgy anything. 

finally reported it to your family, is that it? 

A Yes. 

What .did you s*y? 4. The liante thing t. saw the man - 

was 

Q When did Yolu" first say you saw a'. revolver in his'  

harid?..A SUnday, when the Officer came to the. daming place. 

Q•

 

You had not told.- Emy,:, of your.family that you saw 

revolver? A: Rome 

the officer .when he c.rne there, he did not' know. that 

you had said anything about seeing a revolver?. A I don't 

know if he knew 

f.Q, Did he ask you to sw that, or did you $sty it volun-

tarily? A Be did not say anything, -b t I. was in a great 

, hurry to go upstairs and so I said something. 

Q That is twice you were in a hurry, the night before 

you were in a hurry to get 'away? A It. is the en da 



C',4088.*B.XAkINA.TI0N BY Xi :sAaT.181 

After you got to Sheriff 'Street, - did you hear ..any 

shooting? ' ;A No. 

There 1.514.0; .a big cràvd aroun 

,TB$ COURT:-

Did.yoU know:w this mari, was arrested, t1van .:the 

:officer took away 4. I •did not aisk and 1 did not, know it-

YoU'. did. not k? I did. tiot E4sk 

Did not think it necessary.. find but what that 

.crowd was gathered there for? A No sir; I immediately left. , 

Was the crowd in front of a iLrug store? A y 

Didn't you hear anybodysay that a‘man had been shot? 

A. Yes, sir. ;.. I...heard it . 

4. .7ther.edid you hear it, and how? .A 'Alen I passed the 

I h.eard 'that they were saying it, 

asked you al.ttle while .:ago if you knew why this 

man was arrested and taken away) and, you said you did not? 

A I did not know from the man hiMself, but I heard from the 

opl 

X A C 0 recalled by—the People... 

BY YR CLARKE: . 

Q I asked you yesterday. if y u talked with any 

about this case? A.No sir. 

dY 



Q. After you left- the District Attorney?• A No sir. 

Q Did you go to any lawyer'soffice? A No. 

Do .you know Mr. Sachs? A Yes. 

Did you go to his office A No. 

At no time A No 

Q, Did you go to any office where Mr . Sachs waifs? .A N 

trot 'Attoriley Under. threat from y that be would get into 

serious trouble if he  did not te11.111flat he knew; is that so? 

A No. 

youQ Did.  have any Conversation with•him about it? 

A I never did, only in the District Attorneyisoffice and 

Mr. Kernochan was there at •the .time, every. time I spoke 

hi 

Q, I Did you. threaten him there? A-Nol sir. 

THE COURT: ,I do not think this is competent Just 

now. You have not closed.your case ye You cannot call 

•one of your witnesses to contradict another before you 



cIo se. You might after the defence has 

. LARKS: I want to clear this 

peculiar state of fact., 

THE COUR I know, but you may 

defence h 

all hi. after the 

s finished, in rebuttal but y U cannot CtaU 

chief, to contradict 

• Tpis vzoncs BET. 
_SWIM: The defendant moves the Cburt to tea 

from the consideration of the 'ury the indictment 

charging this defendant with the crime of murder in the 

firgt degree„ and to .instruot them to hcquit upon, t1v. 

ground that the People have not made out a case. 

1.1E-,COITRT: Well I .agreewith yOu, the People have 

not made out a 'case. There is no question about that. 

The testimony given is of such a character as to cer-

tainly leave the case caurrounded by every reasoriabl 

As to the hild that brough here to swear, 

c our se I would strike out his entire testimony 

on account of. the nuMberless.'dontradictione of- the boy, 

and the fact that while he seems to.be bright in other 

respects •he seems to have no  moral sense, and to be. ab-

solutely without it. As to the other- Witness. for 

the People, you see how he has changed his testimony, 



really, were 

how his conscience reproached him, and therefore he 

c angeshis testimony. Why the man's conscience 

should lead him, two or three weeks 'after, to give a dif-

ferent relation of facts that occurred under his atten-

tion and required his official action is 8ometill 

is 'difficult to underta 

On the other hand, I think the defence ought to be 

nyceeded with, 'but that would be .4 Iti034 tion of a most 

important principle of law, perhaps, where defendant 

is required to give testimony against himself, and per-

haps convict himself. There is not 4 sufficient case made 

out by the People to require that. 

CLARE:E: Could not the jury take this position, 

that they believed the officer first testimony on his 

direct?' 

.TprE COURT' 'do: not think tl-ey cOuld 

CLARICE: And on re -direct- the -last words,_ 

n favor of the Peopletis case. 

THE COURT: That true, but I am looking at what 
the appellate courts will say, reading that testimony a 

n cold blood; they will simp2 say that they do not 

. believe one salitary Word. of your witnesses; they won't 

• believe the officer they•Wontt believe. the child 

and when' I e the other .witnesses, I. except the yo.ung 



lady who testified here. f .eotirtie would believe 

but at the sa téher testimony •.,dta not establish 

a.dying declaration In the eenseof the• a; and therefore 

the People have nothing to stanti.upOn;.. ± Should. have 

chargeto  you., gentlemen  of the jury, that if you found 

any one of the witnesses 'had wilfully and deliberately 

.sworn, false you,,bre at liberty to disregard their 

entire testimony. Of course, if you thr:owoUt 'the po. 

iCeman  te8timOW, and throw out the b te etimony, 

thin there is nothing to stand Open) 'because the young 

lady te'stimeny, of c our se had to rule that it did 

.not constitute under, the law a' dying declaration .such . 

as would be admissible before the 

shouldMR. CLAR:  not the question whether it 

shoUi be threwri out be left to the jury? 

THE COURT: that Is 

11R CURER: thougirt A 

• que stion of  

was in their discretion 

regard ot disregard-i 

.TiCE -MUM; Here is the; question of law, is there 

evidence enough to suStain,a convictio'n? 

1414 :CLARKE: Here •is' a Man who says he saw the sit t-, 

ingi. and on his redirect he tiayil there is .no doubt the 

Man who thtew.the gun away is the same man that fired 

the shot., and the man that ran is the same nmn that threw 



• THE COVRT Suppose the. ury 01;ld -convict oh  ti*xt, 

the Court of APPealsyrould set the conviction aside, 

bey.ofld a:ueStion There vroul& not be a Aldsenting-

vote on it, upon reading the whole t estimony, and the 

would not only do that, but ;very properly censure the 

Court- for permitting it to go to tie jury. That is the 

view •X take, of it. Now, the qUeetion 4 to whether  

.there is sufficient evidence tO go to the jury is a ques" 

i„Oxi of law .for the C urt to decide. , As to the s 

.ficien0y of that evidence to  conyict, that is for .the 

_that. is -a' question of fact. I am obUged to hO 44 

under ail the c,ircultstances of theCase that there i 

not testimOny sufficient in this case 

Verdict' of, guilty,—and while I may have •own views upon 

the subject, 1 have . nevertheless to act accordin to the 

law ad to direct an acquittal. 

'The jury r endered a verdict of Not 

TIE COURT: I would say to the District Attorney 

that all the. testimony in the case with the exception 
- • . 

of that of the Stater Of the deceased. to Which there •can 

be no possible objection at all sI is no doubt a 



yes, Z wi4 take steps todo that. 

iat, of eurse, iloso of the tase:, 

'anci, 1ie,-methods by wbic this result was made- obli 

pACTiS: I told UrClarke I would give him a 

I po ssib-

. LARp: ul tat have that affidavit? 

14}1. SWItp: Yes. 

TEE COURT: I mean no reflection upon .y 

Sachs,: in the remarks that. I have Made, but I do think 

there e suspicious : ir etimi3t &noes enough .a.b..bitt it 

o warrant a rigid-  investigation. 
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